RECEIVED

Aug 09 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Orangeburg County

Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

ANTLY JERMAINE SCOTT,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000266

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

SARAH E. SHIPE
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to sever his trial from his co-defendants, where the state attempted to show guilt by association and relied on testimony that implicated only some of the co-defendants and thereby prejudiced Appellant's right to a fair trial?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about August 1, 2018, an Orangeburg County indicted Appellant for four counts of murder, one count of attempted murder, and one count of burglary in the first degree. R. 2404. Following two pre-trial hearings, the case was called to trial before the Honorable Edgar W. Dickson and a jury on February 7, 2022.: Ola Johnson represented Appellant.

Appellant was tried with two co-defendants, Robert Bailey and Luther Smith. Bailey was represented by Mark Leiendecker and Ashley Chisholm. Smith was represented by Aimee Zmroczek and Richard Lackey. David Osborne and Chelsea Glover appeared on behalf of the state.

Following a multi-week trial, the jury found Appellant guilty as indicted. R.2382, l. 4 – R. 2383, l. 7. Judge Dickson sentenced him to life on the burglary and murder charges as well as thirty years' imprisonment on the attempted murder offense. R. 2401 ll. 9 – 24.

This appeal follows.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“A motion for severance is addressed to the trial court and should not be disturbed unless an abuse of discretion is shown.” State v. Anderson, 318 S.C. 395, 398, 458 S.E.2d 56, 57–58 (Ct.App.1995). Trial judges should be “cautious in allowing joint trials” and must assure protection of a defendant’s constitutional rights. State v. Singleton, 303 S.C. 313, 315, 400 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1991) (reversing conviction obtained in joint trial because defendant’s Sixth Amendment right of confrontation was violated). “Denial of a severance motion is an abuse of discretion if unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” State v. Barnes, 421 S.C. 47, 51, 804 S.E.2d 301, 304 (Ct. App. 2017)

ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion to sever his trial from his co-defendants, where the state attempted to show guilt by association and relied on testimony that implicated only some of the co-defendants and thereby prejudiced Appellant's right to a fair trial.

Relevant facts

By way of a written motion dated January 9, 2022, counsel for Appellant moved to sever Appellant's trial from his co-defendants. R. 364. He offered the following factual recitation in the motion:

The Defendant is accused of participating in the killing of four people, and wounding a fifth on July 15, 2021. After more than a year, multiple people were arrested in connection with the incident including the Defendant. Notably, several co-defendants have made multiple statements to law enforcement during the investigation implicating not only themselves but others as well. Further, although the Defendant understood that the State did not intend to try the codefendants together when this trial was originally scheduled, the Defendant subsequently has been notified by the state that it now intends to try him alongside with co-defendants in this case.

Id.

The facts as adduced by the state at trial were that on the morning of July 15, 2015, at 6:48 a.m., officers were called out to a home in Holly Hill. R.480, l. 18 – R. 482, l. 3. Damien Clinton with the Orangeburg County Sheriff's Department was one of the first officers on the scene. R. 482, ll. 10 – 20. He observed a deceased male laying on the ground by a red car. R. 483, ll. 12 – 23. Clinton walked into the home through the back door. R. 485, ll. 2 – 4. He discovered three additional bodies as well as an eight-year-old boy who had been shot but was still alive. R. 486, l. 13 – R. 488, l. 22.

The home belonged to Christopher Wright, an admitted drug dealer. R. 507, ll. 20 – 25. Wright had not been at home the night of the shootings. R. 549, l. 23 – R. 551, l. 25. Wright identified the deceased male outside by the car as Jerome Butler. Id. Wright immediately called 911. R. 552 ll. 1 – 8.

Due to a recent exchange of dirt bikes and motorcycles, Wright suspected co-defendant Bailey was responsible for the murders. R. 524, ll. 2 – 23; R. 567, ll. 4 – 5; R. 706, ll. 11 – 14. Bailey’s nickname was Pocket. The eight-year-old boy took the stand and identified Bailey as one of the assailants. R. 776, l. 10 – R. 781, l. 18.

After being shot, the eight-year-old boy spent time in the hospital. His aunt, Veronica Bryant, testified during the state’s case-in-chief. R. 1527. She previously purchased marijuana from Bailey. R. 1534, ll. 2 – 6. Following the shooting, Bailey would routinely check with Bryant regarding her nephew’s health and memory. R. 1535, l. 25 – R. 1537, l. 4; R. 1540, ll. 6 – 9. It was only after Bryant informed Bailey that her nephew could not remember anything that Bailey stopped asking about his status. R. 1540, ll. 16 – 23.

A different witness for the state connected Appellant to the shootings. Derrick Coleman had previously purchased marijuana from Bailey, same as Bryant. R. 1702, ll. 3 – 24. Coleman claimed to know Appellant, nicknamed “Jackie Man,” as well. R. 1709, ll. 5 – 18. Coleman testified as to his recollections from July 14, 2015. R. 1710, ll. 4 – 7. Coleman was involved in the transaction involving Wright and Bailey. R. 1713, l. 23 – R. 1714, l. 25.

Later that night, Coleman, Appellant, and a few other people were hanging out together. R. 1720, ll. 9 – 19. The group discussed going to a strip club but instead decided to go purchase drugs, according to Coleman. R. 1720, l. 20 - R. 1521, l. 23. Coleman, Smith, and Appellant

supposedly rode in Coleman's truck to Bailey's house. R. 1724, ll. 19 – 25. They were unable to procure drugs at Bailey's house. R. 1728, ll. 8 – 20.

Smith and Bailey got out of the truck and were gone between thirty and forty-five minutes. R. 1731, ll. 1 – 25. When they got back to the truck, Coleman testified that they appeared to be out of breath and flung open the truck doors. R. 1733, ll. 14 – 25. Coleman claimed that Appellant yelled at him to "go go go." Id. Because Coleman was shaken, Smith began driving. R. 1737, ll. 3 – 24. They drove to a landing, where Coleman allegedly saw Appellant throw two objects into the water. R. 1745, ll. 1 – 3. Coleman testified that when Appellant got back into the truck, he admitted to killing five people. R. 1745, ll. 15 – 25.

When the group got back to the trailer where they had began their night, Appellant supposedly pulled out drugs from his pocket. R. 1749, ll. 1 – 24. Coleman indicated it was methamphetamine and cocaine. Id.

None of the three co-defendants testified after the state rested.

Regarding severance, trial counsels contended in his pre-trial written motion for severance that Appellant "cannot obtain a fair trial if his case is tried with his co-defendants, as there is a serious risk that this right to confrontation and cross-examination of his co-defendant accuser will be compromised." R. 364. Counsel provided citations to state and federal law, and the trial judge heard arguments pre-trial.

During a pre-trial hearing, counsel for Appellant argued in favor of the motion to sever. R. 333, l. 21 – R. 334, l. 10. According to counsel, Smith's statement to police "specifically goes after [Appellant] as the ringleader, as the planner of this crime." Id. At the same hearing, counsel for co-defendant Bailey argued "there's a serious risk that a joint trial will compromise the specific trial rights of the codefendant or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment

about the co-defendant's [guilt]. There's always an inference when you sit in a courtroom with two or three other defendants that if they prove one defendant guilty you get splashed with the paint of that defendant." R. 421, l. 6 – R. 424, l. 16. Appellant's trial counsel joined in favor of the motion on his client's behalf:

And from the very first statement where Mr. Smith is talking about codefendants, he starts naming my client as the one who plans it. And says Mr. Scott is the ringleader who planned it. And it keeps going back to that and it just [gets] worse and worse as they go in the video and the statement he says my client kicks the door, my client shoots, and then he says Mr. Bailey shoots.

R. 426, ll. 11 – 24.

Counsel then raised a concern about written statements. R. 427, l. 1 – R. 428, l. 22.

Written statements seemingly mirrored Smith's verbal statements to the police. Id.

Smith's statements were explored at a different pre-trial hearing. On February 3, 2022, the trial court heard testimony from Everett Culpepper, a previous employee from the Orangeburg County Sheriff's Office. R. 227. Culpepper interviewed Smith on October 4, 2016. R. 227, ll. 14 – 16. According to Culpepper, Smith claimed Appellant shot Butler. R. 235, ll. 12 – 19. Culpepper also testified that Smith suggested Appellant was the one who shot the eight-year-old boy. R. 237, ll. 3 – 8.

In response, the trial judge indicated his intent to "keep out references to your clients that [Smith] says." R. 246, ll. 18 – 24. The state indicated its intent to try at least Smith:

I would suggest that, one, Luther [Smith] is in the trial. We're going forward with Luther on this trial. ... But what I would ask is keep all three in until Monday morning. And then on Monday morning, we will pick between Luther and Bailey or Luther and Scott. And the reason why - - and I'm not playing games. I'm just going to be straight with the Defense. The reason why we need to do that without getting into all the details is that we need witnesses or a witness to go forward with one of these other two.

R. 222, l. 11 – R. 222, l. 23.

Although no clear ruling was issued, the state called all three defendants' cases to trial in February 2022.

Discussion

Criminal defendants who are jointly tried for murder are not entitled to separate trials as a matter of right. State v. Kelsey, 331 S.C. 50, 502 S.E.2d 63 (1998); State v. Nichols, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 118 (1997); see also State v. Garrett, 350 S.C. 613, 567 S.E.2d 523 (Ct. App. 2002) (clarifying that codefendants are not entitled to separate trials as a matter of right). A motion for severance is addressed to the sound discretion of the trial court. State v. Harris, 351 S.C. 643, 572 S.E.2d 267 (2002); State v. Tucker, 324 S.C. 155, 478 S.E.2d 260 (1996); State v. Simmons, 352 S.C. 342, 573 S.E.2d 856 (Ct. App. 2002). The trial court's ruling will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of that discretion. Tucker, 324 S.C. at 164, 478 S.E.2d at 265; State v. Prince, 316 S.C. 57, 447 S.E.2d 177 (1993); Simmons, 352 S.C. at 350, 573 S.E.2d at 860. An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. State v. Lopez, 352 S.C. 373, 574 S.E.2d 210 (Ct. App. 2002).

There can be no clearly defined rule for determining when a defendant is entitled to a separate trial, because the exercise of discretion means that the decision must be based upon a just and proper consideration of the particular circumstances which are presented to the court in each case. State v. McIntire, 221 S.C. 504, 71 S.E.2d 410 (1952); State v. Castineira, 341 S.C. 619, 535 S.E.2d 449 (Ct. App. 2000), aff'd, 351 S.C. 635, 572 S.E.2d 263 (2002). A severance should be granted only when there is a serious risk that a joint trial would compromise a specific trial right of a codefendant or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about a codefendant's guilt. Harris, 351 S.C. at 652–53, 572 S.E.2d at 273; State v. Dennis, 337 S.C. 275, 523 S.E.2d 173 (1999). An appellate court should not reverse a conviction

achieved at a joint trial in the absence of a reasonable probability that the defendant would have obtained a more favorable result at a separate trial. Hughes v. State, 346 S.C. 554, 552 S.E.2d 315 (2001).

A defendant who alleges he was improperly tried jointly must show prejudice before this court will reverse his conviction. Dennis, 337 S.C. at 281, 523 S.E.2d at 176; State v. Crowe, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379 (1972); see also State v. Thompson, 279 S.C. 405, 308 S.E.2d 364 (1983) (noting that for reversal, a defendant who was tried jointly must show prejudice). The general rule allowing joint trials applies with equal force when a defendant's severance motion is based upon the likelihood he and a codefendant will present mutually antagonistic defenses, i.e., accuse one another of committing the crime. Hughes, 346 S.C. at 559, 552 S.E.2d at 317; Dennis, 337 S.C. at 281, 523 S.E.2d at 176. The rule allowing joint trials is not impugned simply because the codefendants may present evidence accusing each other of the crime. Dennis, 337 S.C. at 281, 523 S.E.2d at 176; State v. Smith, 359 S.C. 481, 597 S.E.2d 888 (Ct. App. 2004).

The trial judge must act cautiously in allowing a joint trial. Dennis, 337 S.C. at 281, 523 S.E.2d at 176. The judge must carefully consider problems that may arise from a joint trial, such as redacted statements, and must assure protection of each defendant's constitutional right to confront witnesses against him. Id. at 281–82, 523 S.E.2d at 176; State v. Singleton, 303 S.C. 313, 400 S.E.2d 487 (1991). A proper cautionary instruction may help protect the individual rights of each defendant and ensure that no prejudice results from a joint trial. Hughes, 346 S.C. at 559, 552 S.E.2d at 317; State v. Stuckey, 347 S.C. 484, 556 S.E.2d 403 (Ct. App. 2001); see also State v. Holland, 261 S.C. 488, 494, 201 S.E.2d 118, 121 (1973) (finding trial court's cautionary instructions to the jury in a joint trial “protected the rights of each individual appellant”).

In Appellant’s case, Bryant’s testimony about how co-defendant Bailey only appeared to care about the eight-year-old boy’s memory implicated a malicious attitude that was transferred to each of the co-defendants. Had Appellant been granted a separate trial, that testimony would have been irrelevant and inadmissible. Additionally, had the state attempted to put Smith on the stand in order to implicate Appellant, cross-examination would have been an option; Appellant would have been able to utilize his right of confrontation. However, as it stood, Appellant was convicted based in part on evidence that placed one of his codefendants—and not Appellant—in a bad light. This was both prejudicial and in error.

Although the underlying charges were different than the ones in the matter at bar, our Supreme Court reminded prosecutors of the pitfalls inherent in mass conspiracy trials: “It is always cumbersome to try a great number of defendants at one time... With such a large number [of defendants] there might be a danger of some of them being lost sight of by the jury, and their case considered by the jury in a vague way.” State v. Gunn, 313 S.C. 124, 128, 437 S.E.2d 75, 83 (1993) (citing State v. McIntire, 221 S.C. 504, 71 S.E.2d 410 (1952)). In reversing multiple convictions, our Court remarked:

As an appellate tribunal, we have had the opportunity to searchingly review the voluminous transcript generated by this prosecution, and to reflect upon the numerous issues raised. This was not a luxury afforded the trial judge or the jury. **Separate indictments, with separate trials**, and a sharper focus on the alleged conspirators’ agreement, would have aided in the refinement of the State’s case.

Gunn at 138-39, 437 S.E.2d 75, 83 (internal citation omitted and emphasis added).

The Gunn Court reiterated a holding from the United States Supreme Court opinion dating back to 1946:

There are times when of necessity, because of the nature and scope of the particular federation, large numbers of persons taking part must be tried together or perhaps not at all, at any rate as respects some. When many conspire, they invite mass trial by their conduct. Even so, the proceedings are exceptional to our

tradition and call for use of every safeguard to individualize each defendant in his relation to the mass. Wholly different is it with those who join together with only a few, though many others may be doing the same and though some of them may line up with more than one group.

Criminal they may be, but it is not the criminality of mass conspiracy. They do not invite mass trial by their conduct. Nor does our system tolerate it. That way lies the drift toward totalitarian institutions. True, this may be inconvenient for prosecution. But our Government is not one of mere conveniences or efficiency. It too has a stake, with every citizen, in his being afforded our historic individual protections, including those surrounding criminal trials. About them we dare not become careless or complacent when that fashion has become rampant over the earth.