RECEIVED

Aug 09 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
Honorable Edgar W. Dickson, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000266

THE STATE,RESPONDENT,

v.

ANTLY JERMAINE SCOTT,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

JULIANNA E. BATTENFIELD
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 103135

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-6305

DAVID PASCOE
Solicitor, First Judicial Circuit

151 Docket Street
Orangeburg, South Carolina 29155
(803) 533-6252

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I. The motion to sever argument is not preserved for appellate review as the trial court did not rule on it. Even if the court had ruled, however, the evidence Appellant complains of would have been admissible at his separate trial anyway. This Court should affirm.

Criminal defendants who are jointly tried for murder have no right to be tried separately. *State v. Barnes*, 421 S.C. 47, 51, 804 S.E.2d 301, 304 (Ct. App. 2017); *State v. Dennis*, 337 S.C. 275, 281, 523 S.E.2d 173, 176 (1999); *State v. Kelsey*, 331 S.C. 50, 73-74, 502 S.E.2d 63, 75 (1998); *State v. Holland*, 261 S.C. 488, 201 S.E.2d 118 (1973); *State v. Crowe*, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.3d 379 (1972). Severance is a decision left to the trial court's discretion, *State v. Nichols*, 325 S.C. 111, 481 S.E.2d 315 (1991), and appellate courts should only reverse a conviction from a joint trial when an Appellant proves there was a reasonable probability that he would have obtained a more favorable result at a separate trial. *Hughes v. State*, 346 S.C. 554, 552 S.E.2d 315 (2001). In other words, he must show he was prejudiced by the denial of the motion. *State v. Thompson*, 279 S.C. 405, 308 S.E.2d 364 (1983).

Appellant Antly Scott argues the trial court erred by denying the three co-defendants' joint motion to sever. However, he readily admits "no clear ruling was issued." IBOA p. 8. Therefore, the issue is not preserved because there is no clear ruling to appeal. Second, Appellant argues that the court erred by denying the motion (again, even though there was no clear ruling) because evidence was introduced against his two co-defendants at trial that caused the jury to find him guilty "by association." He maintains he was prejudiced because were he to have had his own trial, that that evidence would allegedly not have been admissible. IBOA pp. 9-10. Third, Appellant argues the trial court erred because were he to have had a separate trial, he would have had the opportunity to cross-examine co-defendant Luther Smith about his

statements (not introduced at trial) that eventually implicated himself, Appellant, and co-defendant Robert Bailey. IBOA p. 10.

Appellant's arguments are wrong for many reasons: **(1)** Appellant did not preserve the severance motion issue for appeal because he did not ensure the trial court made a ruling on the record; **(2)** Hand of one, hand of all evidence in furtherance of a conspiracy (before and after) is admissible against co-defendants in this state regardless of whether they have separate trials; **(3)** There is no *Bruton*³ problem here because the State did not introduce any non-testifying co-defendant's statement that implicated anyone else at the joint trial, and even if the motion to sever would have been granted, Luther Smith likely would have invoked his Fifth Amendment rights and the statements could not be used anyway; and **(4)** Competent, independent evidence was introduced implicating Appellant only that was much stronger than the evidence he complains of so he cannot show prejudice. This Court should affirm.

Motions to Sever

The granting of a separate trial seldom outweighs the advantages to be found in a joint trial of co-defendants.

It would impair both the efficiency and the fairness of the criminal justice system to require in all these cases of joint crimes where incriminating statements exist, that prosecutors bring separate proceedings, presenting the same evidence, again and again requiring victims and witnesses to repeat the inconvenience (and sometimes trauma) of testifying, and randomly favoring the last tried defendants who have the advantage of knowing the prosecution's case beforehand.

Joint trials generally serve the interests of justice by avoiding inconsistent verdicts and enabling more accurate assessment of culpability – advantages which sometimes operate to the defendant's benefit.

³ *Bruton v. United States*, 391 U.S. 123 (1968) (holding that only a co-defendant's confession that implicates another non-testifying co-defendant in a joint trial is inadmissible because it violates the Sixth Amendment right of cross-examination.)

Richardson v. Marsh, 481 U.S. 200, 210 (1987) (Scalia, J.) (emphasis added).

Even so, a trial judge must act cautiously when allowing a joint trial and must carefully consider problems that may arise such as redacted statements, the ability to confront witnesses, and whether the jury will be able to parse out the criminal culpability (or lack of it) of each co-defendant. *Hughes v. State*, 346 S.C. at 558-559, 552 S.E.2d at 317. But, as Appellant notes, “[t]he general rule allowing joint trials applies with equal force when a defendant’s severance motion is based upon the likelihood he and a co-defendant will present mutually antagonistic defenses, *i.e.*, accusing one another of committing the crime.” *Id.*: IBOA p. 9 (emphasis added).

We reject the argument asserted by several of the appellants that the joint trial resulted in a ‘spillover effect’ from evidence admitted against other co-defendants.

Because the State alleged the men conspired and acted in concert to commit the substantive crimes charged, all of the State’s evidence admitted in their joint trial would have been admissible against each of them if they had been granted separate trials.

State v. Stuckey, 347 S.C. 484, 497, 556 S.E.2d 403, 410 (Ct. App. 2001) (emphasis added); *see also State v. Britt*, 235 S.C. 395, 111 S.E.2d 669 (1959) (overruled on other grounds by *State v. Torrence*, 406 S.C. 45, 406 S.E.2d 315 (1991)) (upholding the denial of a motion to sever when co-defendants accused each other of having committed the crime.)

In *Zafiro*, the Supreme Court of the United States rejected the request to create a bright line rule “mandating severance whenever co-defendants have conflicting defenses.” *Zafiro v. United States*, 506 U.S. 534, 538 (1993). Appellant seems to possibly be arguing for such a rule here, though, (although it is generally unclear) besides essentially arguing the hand of one, hand of all doctrine prejudiced him: “the state attempted to show guilt by association.” IBOA p. 4. But “mutually antagonistic defenses are not prejudicial *per se*,” *Id.*, and hand of one, hand of all evidence is admissible against co-defendants regardless of whether they have joint trials. *Stuckey*, 347 S.C. at 497-498, 556 S.E.2d at 410 (“Because the State alleged the men conspired and acted in concert to commit the substantive crimes charged, all of the State’s evidence

admitted in their joint trial would have been admissible against each one of them if they had been granted separate trials.”) Appellant’s argument for severance does not cut it.

Instead, severance should only be granted if “there is a serious risk that a joint trial would **compromise a specific trial right of one of the defendants** or prevent the jury from making a reliable judgment about guilt or innocence.” *Id.* at 539; *Hughes*, 346 S.C. at 558-559, 552 S.E.2d at 317; *State v. Barnes*, 421 S.C. at 51-52, 804 S.E.2d at 304 (emphasis added). “Such a risk might occur when evidence that the jury should not consider against a defendant and that would not be admissible if a defendant were tried alone is admitted against a co-defendant.” *Zafiro*, 506 U.S. at 538-539. But “it is well settled that defendants are not entitled to severance merely because they may have a better chance of acquittal in separate trials.” *Zafiro*, 506 U.S. at 540. “We will only reverse the denial of a severance motion when it is reasonably probable the defendant would have received a more favorable outcome had he been tried separately.” *Barnes*, 421 S.C. at 51-52, 804 S.E.2d at 304. Independent and competent evidence was introduced against Appellant at trial such that he cannot show prejudice here. This Court should affirm.

To return to the above arguments and the facts of this case in further detail:

(1) The Issue is Not Preserved – The Trial Court Did Not Rule on the Motion to Sever

All the above would be more applicable had the trial court made a ruling on the record on the motion to sever. However, the court did not, and Appellant does not argue here that the trial court erred by *refusing to exercise* discretion. Thus, he has waived that argument. Instead, Appellant claims the court erred by *making* a ruling, even though he admits in his brief that no clear ruling was made. IBOA p. 8. It is impossible to determine on appeal whether Judge Dickson abused his discretion because Appellant did not ensure the ruling was placed in the record. *State v. Carlson*, 363 S.C. 586, 595-596, 611 S.E.2d 283, 287-288 (Ct. App. 2005)

(appellant must raise an issue and obtain a ruling to preserve an issue for review); *State v. Dunbar*, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 693-694 (2003) (issue must have been raised to and ruled on by the trial court to preserve an issue for appellate review). It was Appellant's burden to present a sufficient record for appellate review. *State v. Sterling*, 396 S.C. 599, 610-612, 723 S.E.2d 176, 182-183 (2012). He did not, so he cannot raise the issue here. This Court should affirm.

(2) Appellant is Essentially Arguing Hand of One, Hand of All is Unfair

Even if it were preserved, Appellant next argues his "specific right" to a fair trial was violated because evidence implicating his other two co-defendants was introduced at the joint trial, and he was thus "splashed with their guilt" because the State was allowed to show "guilt by association." He claims the court apparently erred because it allowed the State to rely "on testimony that implicated only some of the co-defendants and thereby prejudiced Appellant."

IBOA p. 1. The testimony he specifically complains of is the following:

- Dreamzz Nelson, aged eight at the time, was one of the three children shot the night of the murders. He was the only one who survived, and he identified co-defendant Robert Bailey or "Pocket" as the one who shot him on the stand. R. 729-734.
- Bailey reached out to Dreamzz' Aunt Veronica Bryant after the murders to see what Dreamzz remembered and to try to make sure he did not talk to the police. Bailey finally stopped calling after Bryant told him Dreamzz did not remember anything. R. 1527-1540.
- Co-defendant Luther Smith made a statement to police that "specifically goes after [Appellant] as the ringleader, as the planner of this crime." January 27, 2022 Tr., R. 116-117, 190-191.
- Orangeburg County Sheriff's Deputy Everett Culpepper testified Luther Smith told her that Appellant (not Robert Bailey) shot Jerome Butler (who was found shot to death outside the home) and Dreamzz Nelson. February 3, 2022 Tr., R. 227-237.

First, Appellant chiefly relies on *State v. Gunn* to support his argument that the motion to sever should be granted, but that case involved thirty-three defendants who conspired to traffic

the drug Dilaudid across multiple counties. *State v. Gunn*, 313 S.C. 124, 437 S.E.2d 75 (1993). The Court also mostly focused on the language in the indictments, and whether the lower court should have directed verdicts of acquittal to some, but not all, of the co-defendants based upon the sufficiency of the evidence. *Id.* at 134-135, 437 S.E.2d at 81-82. *Gunn* does not relate to the case at hand at all. This was not a “mass crime of conspiracy;” this was three guys who went to get drugs and ended up killing four people and wounding another in a straightforward hand of one, hand of all case.

Regarding the statements Dreamzz made, his identification of Robert Bailey as the shooter was only part of his testimony, which also implicated the other two co-defendants. His testimony at the very least would be part of the *res gestae* of the crime and would be admissible at any other trial. Regarding the statements Robert Bailey made to Dreamzz’ aunt, Rule 801(d)(2)(E), SCRE, renders admissible—as a “statement which is not hearsay”—any statement made by a co-defendant during the course of and in the furtherance of the conspiracy in any trial of any co-defendant. “When a conspiracy is proved, all acts and declarations in furtherance thereof, by any of the conspirators, to advance the common cause, are evidence against all, though not done or made in the presence of each other.” *State v. Blackwell*, 220 S.C. 342, 352, 67 S.E.2d 684, 689 (1951).

A defendant does not have to be charged with the crime of conspiracy for a conspiracy to exist under Rule 801(d)(2)(E), SCRE, and the case law rendering co-conspirator statements admissible. *State v. Martin*, 111 S.C. 352, 98 S.E. 129 (1919). Statements by co-conspirators in furtherance of the conspiracy are admissible upon mere *prima facie* proof of the existence of the conspiracy. *Blackwell*, 220 S.C. at 353, 67 S.E.2d at 689. “There is no doubt that when persons have banded themselves together to accomplish some crime, every word or act of each

conspirator in furtherance of such accomplishment of the crime binds every other of the conspirators.” *State v. Green*, 40 S.C. 328, 18 S.E. 933, 934 (1894). Statements made to conceal or cover up a crime after the fact count. Wharton’s Criminal Evidence § 608 (1991); *United States v. Inadi*, 475 U.S. 387 (1986) (a subsequent declaration of a conspirator may be admissible against any co-conspirator if the conspirators were still concerned with the concealment of their criminal conduct or identity.) Here, Robert Bailey was attempting to find out what Dreamzz Nelson remembered and was trying to suppress anything he remembered. It does not matter if Appellant knew Bailey was doing this; the statements were admissible against him at any trial, whether joint or separate.

Regarding Luther Smith’s statements, he also made at least twelve other statements to law enforcement that implicated himself, Appellant, and Robert Bailey in the crime. January 27, 2022 Tr., R. 67-182; February 3, 2022 Tr., R. 234-247. The first statement Appellant lists was not introduced at trial, but Appellant claims he should have been able to cross-examine Smith on it anyway. But Appellant fails to mention that had it been introduced at trial through the necessity of Smith taking the stand, *all* of Luther Smith’s statements that implicated the co-defendants would have been admissible under Rule 106, SCRE, and the Rule of Completeness, as was discussed at length pre-trial. The State never did move to admit any of them (at least the ones that implicated the other two), but even if they had, the statements in full would have only further implicated Appellant in the crime so he cannot show prejudice here.

(3) Fifth Amendment Privilege Against Self-Incrimination and Hearsay

There is no evidence in the record that shows Luther Smith would have testified voluntarily in a co-defendant’s trial. Therefore, any right Appellant would have had to cross-examine Smith would have been out of the trial court’s hands anyways. Even so, a defendant is

not entitled to severance as a matter of right even to make a co-defendant available to testify. *State v. Thompson*, 279 S.C. 405, 308 S.E.2d 364 (1983); *State v. Crowe*, 258 S.C. 258, 188 S.E.2d 379 (1972). In fact, in the absence of any showing that a co-defendant would in fact testify or testify favorably in a separate trial, any motion for severance is properly denied. *State v. Prince*, 316 S.C. 57, 447 S.E.2d 117 (1993). Therefore, even if the trial court had ruled on the motion to sever and hypothetically denied it, that decision would not have been an abuse of discretion under our case law.

Case in point is *State v. Lawrence*, which was just released by the South Carolina Supreme Court. *State v. Lawrence*, Op. No. 28156 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed June 7, 2023). The Court held that a co-defendant cannot be made to testify in a co-defendant's separate trial under the Fifth Amendment⁴ and Article 1, Section 12 of the South Carolina Constitution if the "hazard of incrimination" to the co-defendant was readily apparent. Here, there is nothing in the record to indicate what order Appellant or co-defendant Bailey would have been tried in had they had the option of a separate trial, so the hazard of self-incrimination to Smith is readily apparent and Appellant would not have been able to cross-examine him. Smith probably would have invoked his Fifth Amendment (and S.C. Const. art. I § 12) rights against self-incrimination and Appellant would have lost access to his statements anyway so the point is moot.

As further proof of the mootness of the argument, in the trial of *State v. Crowe*, Crowe called a co-defendant to testify but he refused by asserting his right against self-incrimination. "The fact that the refusal to sever resulted in the failure of Crowe to have his co-defendant testify on his behalf did not constitute reversible error. The record fails to show that Wright would

⁴ U.S. Const. amend. V ("No person . . . shall be compelled in any criminal case to be a witness against himself")

testify if a separate trial were granted or that his testimony would exculpate the co-defendant Crowe.” *Crowe*, 258 S.C. at 267, 188 S.E.2d at 383; *see also State v. Allen*, 269 S.C. 233, 240, 247 S.E.2d 64, 67 (1976) (trial court was within his discretion in denying severance even though a co-defendant wanted to testify in a separate trial.)

Even if Smith were to voluntarily take the stand in Appellant’s hypothetically separate trial (again, eliminating *Bruton* issues), all three co-defendants agreed at various points during pretrial hearings in the actual case that Smith’s statements would be inadmissible hearsay if not introduced by the State. January 27, 2022 Tr. R. 206, 209, *e.g.* And as the solicitor said, “you don’t have the right to elicit hearsay. You don’t have the right through cross examination to break rules.” January 27, 2022 Tr., R. 1990-200.

The State also aptly stated during the January 27th hearing that, “We are [thinking about] introducing Luther Smith’s statement under 801(d)(2) [SCRE] an admission by a party opponent.⁵ It is not hearsay because it is being offered against a party. And it’s the party’s own statement . . . [t]here’s no hearsay exception that allows [Luther Smith] to introduce Luther’s own statement.” R. 200. Therefore, even if Smith were to be made available, his prior statements likely could not be used by Appellant anyway. *See* Rule 613, SCRE (barring the use of prior statements if a witness admitted he made them while on the stand.) This Court should affirm.

(4) Independent, Competent Evidence Proved Appellant was Guilty

Even if Appellant had ensured the trial court put a ruling on the record, none of the other evidence against Appellant’s two co-defendants prejudiced him because a man named Derrick Coleman testified and said Appellant confessed to killing “five people” right after the shooting.

⁵ It is worth underscoring here that had Appellant been granted the relief he desired, Smith would not be a party opponent at Appellant’s severed trial. What hearsay exception would he then get the statements admitted under?

R. 1745. In fact, Coleman affirmed it was Appellant's idea to go to the house to buy drugs and get the bikes in the first place. R. 1721, R. 1724-1728. Coleman detailed how Appellant ("Jackie Man") got out of the truck, went inside the house, then came back thirty to forty-five minutes later, "running because they slung the doors open really fast and shut them . . . [and] Jackie Man screamed at me to go! Go! Go! Go! Go!" R. 1730-1733.

Then, Appellant directed Coleman to drive to a boat landing where he burned something then "threw two objects in the water." R. 1743-1745. When Coleman asked what happened, Appellant "screamed at [Coleman] and he said, I just killed five f***ing people, quit giving me s***!" R. 1745-1746. Once they got back to the trailer the group had started the night at, Appellant was the one who pulled out the drugs they all originally went to retrieve. R. 1749-1750. That, along with other independent and competent evidence, proved Appellant was guilty of the crime all by himself. Therefore, he cannot prove prejudice here.

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, the State respectfully requests that the judgments, convictions, and sentences of the lower court be affirmed.